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    Preface to the Fifth Edition




    The book was first published in 1963 and reprinted with minor corrections a year later; but within a few years the boom in Australian mining made the final chapters seem antiquated. Accordingly, for the second edition in 1969, a long chapter was written on the new mining fields. At the same time some dates and statistics in earlier chapters were corrected, the story of the famous Egerton lawsuit of the 1870s was amended, and new snippets of information were grafted onto parts of the narrative. Whereas the original book was almost entirely concerned with metal mining, the discoveries of the 1960s—including oil and natural gas and phosphate—widened the scope of the second edition.




    For the fourth edition, new chapters were written on changes in mining between the early 1970s and the early 1990s. They included the tapping of natural gas on the North-West Shelf, the emergence of Australia as the world’s largest producer of diamonds, the finding of the huge Olympic Dam field in South Australia, the swift revival of gold mining, the ups and downs of uranium mining, the powerful role of the environmental crusade, and the return of the mining industry to the level of national importance it held at the turn of the century.




    For this fifth edition, a section has been written on the state of Australian mining at the start of the new century.
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    Preface




    For more than a century Australia has been one of the world’s important mining countries, but no history of the mines has been written. This book is about the precious and base metals that were mined vigorously in Australia. It also touches on iron because Australia’s steel industry was nursed and nourished by a silver-lead mine. It omits coal, for that industry is and was radically different from metal mining. Coal was less a speculative industry, was not an outback industry, had no metallurgical problems; its industrial tensions differed, its markets differed, and it was not such a dynamo of Australia’s growth. This then is a history of Australian mining.




    It has not been easy to spin into a narrative events on so many fields mining so many metals scattered in so many places of a wide continent. Mostly I tell the story in terms of the main fields, for each field had its own distinct obstacles of terrain, climate, distance and isolation, its own peculiar problems in the wealth of its lodes or the perversity of its ores, its own heroes and villains, and its own influence on the wider region or colony of which it was part.




    One hundred books could be written on this theme, and the author’s own interests and bias will inevitably intrude. I have perhaps emphasized too much the discoverers, but in courage and strength they often were giants and their feats have been neglected. If not neglected, they have been cloaked with such mystery that the pattern and logic of mineral discovery have themselves been overlooked. Above all the prospectors were workingmen, and while the life of the wages miner is not well recorded, the life of the prospector is.




    I may not have written enough on trade unionism, and if so it is partly because I think the class struggle and the industrial friction on the metal fields have been exaggerated. I may have written too much on the gambling and investing side of mining, partly through curiosity about it and partly through a belief that it illuminates uncannily everything from rich strikes to bitter strikes.




    In quoting statistics I have tried to be frugal by academic standards. Official figures for the population on early mining fields or the treasure they won are deceptively detailed and specific. It is hard to compute accurately for any year of the last century the wealth Australian earned from metals or the export of metals. The statistics I do cite are misleading unless we remember that the Australian £1 of 1863 was in purchasing power as irrelevant as the rouble to our £1 of 1963. Sharp inflation harms the historian particularly, because it breaks one of his most useful measuring rods, money.




    Finally, the expense of travelling and of gathering material for this book was generously met by Mount Isa Mines Ltd, the Chamber of Mines of Western Australia, Broken Hill Mine Managers’ Association, Broken Hill Proprietary Co. Ltd, and the University of Melbourne. A list of personal acknowledgments, a bibliography and a glossary of common mining words appear at the back of the book.
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    A NOTE ON MEASUREMENTS




    For the sake of continuity the book continues to use where convenient the old measurement of feet and miles, troy ounces and imperial tons. The new tonne is almost the same as the old imperial or long, with 1.02 tonnes equal to one imperial ton. In gold mining the troy ounce, still in use, equals 31.1035 grams.




    In the final chapters all sums of money are given in dollars; two Australian dollars equalled one Australian pound when decimal currency was introduced in 1966. The book would have appeared more consistent if the £ had been converted automatically to the $ in all the chapters, but such a conversion could be misleading.
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      1 Australia, showing the chief mining districts


    


  




  

    Introduction




    Across Australia are the ruins and scars of a lost age. Amidst anthills a Cornish boiler lies in the sun, in low red ranges an iron chimney spreads its long evening shadow. Long tropical grass conceals a barrow wheel and the rubble of a miner’s fireplace. On old goldfields small holes and mounds of clay cover river flats like a vast graveyard.




    Across the wide continent are living mines with nostalgic names, Great Boulder, Hercules, Rum Jungle, and Nobles Nob. There are metal towns that glow on a dark plain at night, railways that stretch straight toward a distant coast, cages that rush men down deep shafts, gardens watered by pipelines that coil across desert, noisy mills and red furnaces and chimneys like spires. There are acres of metal refineries and smelters by the seaboard, mines in the forest below snowed mountains and mines by the warm ocean, but most mines are out in the arid wastelands. They have long yielded much of the world’s precious and base metals, and they have moulded much of Australia’s history.




    Australia’s map is criss-crossed with the spidery tracks of the metal seekers. One track ran around the rim of the continent from the Palmer and Charters Towers in north Queensland to Kalgoorlie and beyond. It ran west from Pacific Ocean to Indian Ocean and south to the Southern Ocean, and it was followed by hundreds of gold-seekers on foot or horse in one of the greatest treks of any land in the nineteenth century. A track that should be famous, it has no name.




    The isolation of new mining fields carved lines of transport. Cobb and Co.’s mail coaches started on the goldfields and the early grid of inland railways was shaped much by mining fields, while from an Australian leadfield the world’s first flying doctor made his first flight. Gold finders created or spurred nearly every tropical port from Rockhampton to Port Hedland, and south of the tropic every big port was enriched by the flow of metals.




    All Australia’s large inland cities of the nineteenth century were mining cities, and gold made Melbourne for half a century the largest coastal city in the land. Though Melbourne today is the heart of the poorest metal region its skyscape is still etched by metals. Its tallest buildings belong to companies that won their first Australian fortunes from mines. The spire of its highest cathedral honours a copper king, its international centre of medical research honours a gold magnate and its most celebrated hotel, Young and Jackson’s, was built with New Zealand gold.




    This was the last continent found in Europe’s long search for treasure and perhaps in no other continent has European colonization been so affected by the winning of metals. In two periods metals were Australia’s most valuable export. New mining regions virtually rescued every Australian colony at least once from depression. They influenced racial policies, unionism, religious life, equalitarian laws, and politics. One small fact illustrates this pervasion; half of Australia’s prime ministers were either the sons of men who were attracted to Australia through gold or were themselves once residents or representatives of the mining fields.




    Out of the ground came wealth that created new industries. Humble silver and copper companies so prospered that they founded Australia’s heavy chemical industry and one of the world’s large iron and steel industries; they made paper and fertilizers and paints and built aircraft and ships. Wealth from Australian rocks created financial dynasties in London and Melbourne, and a fortune from Queensland gold was indispensable in finding Britain’s rich oilfields in the Middle East.




    Australian prospectors found or pioneered new mining fields from the Rand and Rhodesia to New Zealand and the Klondike. Australian mining investors opened Malayan tinlands and New Guinea and Fiji goldfields, and there is hardly a mining field that has not used Australian innovations in metallurgy.




    Above all, the mining fields were the stage and backdrop for hundreds of thousands of lives, and this is the story of how the discoverers, diggers, miners, promoters, engineers, and gamblers faced their world of mercurial wealth.
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    1 Pickpockets’ Gold




    MAPMAKERS OF EUROPE and navigators of the Indies once thought Australian seas washed the isles of gold. Even after navigators had seen the north-west coast of Australia it was named on one map the coast of gold. Unknown coasts were treasurelands; imagination shaped and gilded them. Then slowly Dutch and British voyagers tarnished the gilt, and Australia turned from a land of reward to a land of punishment when Great Britain dumped convicts and guards at Sydney in 1788.




    The imagination of the ancients had more truth than the knowledge of the moderns, but for two generations the settlers did not know that their prison had bars of gold. Convicted London thieves idled away the afternoons with their masters’ sheep within sight of reefs of gold, and exiled Dublin pickpockets heard water rushing down gullies that held more gold than all Dublin’s pockets.




    Australia, nevertheless, was quicker than North America to reveal its mineral wealth. It was quicker because many of its richest mineral lands were closer to the coast, grew good pastures, and were occupied early by sheep and shepherds. Within thirty years of the first settlement Sydney sheep owners had crossed the Blue Mountains to the inland plains and their sheep nibbled grass near gold nuggets and reefs of gold in milky quartz. Within fifty years shepherds behind the small town of Melbourne were watching sheep by golden creeks, and on the Adelaide plains the sheepfolds stood near outcrops of copper that were stained with the brilliant blue and green of the peacock’s tail. The more men walk over ground that is rich in minerals the higher the chance that they will find and recognize the minerals. The nearer they are to settlements and towns the higher the chance that someone will explore and mine those deposits that come to the surface of the earth. All this is obvious and therefore rarely perceived.




    A public official, James McBrien, trailing his surveyor’s chain in February 1823 in the granite country east of Bathurst, thought he saw ‘numerous particles of gold’ in sandy hills by the Fish River and recorded his find in a field book. The gold was sparse, barely worth a search. It was sluiced from the sand a generation later, when McBrien’s field book and its inky smudges and erasures lay forgotten in a government office: the first authentic record of gold in the continent.




    Shepherds were the main inhabitants of the gold lands and they had the leisure to examine the earth on which they walked. Perhaps a hundred pastoral labourers found gold before 1850, and the shepherd McGregor near Wellington found so much gold that he was known as ‘the gold-finder’. For several years he chipped away with hammer at a quartz reef on his master’s sheep run, and perhaps as early as 1845 he carried his treasure to Sydney, where street strollers saw it in the window of Cohen the jeweller. His mine—for mine it was on primitive scale—yielded him perhaps £200 sterling of gold in the opinion of Simpson Davison, an experienced miner who later examined the reef. Ironically, the gold-finder was in prison for debt when the gold rushes erupted in 1851.




    The lonely shepherds in cabbage-tree hats found gold in solid quartz rock rather than in the alluvial gravels and shingles; the quartz reefs jutted above the surface of the ground and were easily seen, whereas the gold in the alluvium was usually buried in earth and clay. They chipped the rock with mallet or chisel and won little gold for their effort. The mining of hard rock requires machinery and equipment, and the shepherds had none. Moreover, they had no desire to interest men who knew more about mining than themselves. Many shepherds were eccentric, silent men, and even those who were garrulous with drink were probably silent about gold, for they usually found it on land owned by the Crown and occupied by their employer.




    Thousands vaguely knew by the mid-1840s that gold was being found in Australia but few knew exactly where. And few seriously bothered to enquire, for in English law all deposits of gold and silver belonged to the Crown. Though the precious metals found in mines of copper or lead or iron were exempted from this law after England’s bloodless revolution of 1689, gold and silver mines remained ‘royal mines’. The Crown demanded its gold as late as 1796 when soldiers expelled hundreds of Irish peasants who washed in wooden bowls the golden sands of a stream in County Wicklow. The archaic law retarded the mining of gold in Australia. Why should we mine gold, complained two Australian mining entrepreneurs in 1848, when any gold we find will ‘necessarily lapse to the Crown’?




    Perhaps geologists could have convinced governments that they should mine the gold or allow private citizens to mine it. But geology was a new and erratic science. Not until the end of the previous century did a British engineer, William Smith, observe while surveying canals that principle that virtually made geology a science, the principle that each stratum of rocks could be identified by the fossils it held. The new geology bowed to botany and zoology in the hierarchy of the natural sciences, and colonial governments employed botanists but not geologists or mineralogists, and their explorers exulted in trees and grasses and plains but not in the minerals they concealed. Caravans of explorers passed over rich mineral regions in south-east Australia and saw nothing to suggest that their dray tracks would soon be followed by the galloping gold escorts.




    A few geologists visited Australia. A self-styled count of Poland named Paul Edmund de Strzelecki called at Sydney in 1839 and quenched his curiosity about the mysterious continent by walking seven thousand miles. In the Wellington district where McGregor was soon to hammer gold he saw native silver and specks of gold, and in his enthusiasm he hoped that mines would some day be worked and the obstacles of the royal metals overcome. The further he walked the more his enthusiasm sank, and when in London in 1845 he wrote his learned Physical Description of New South Wales and Van Diemen’s Land he lamented that ‘the scarcity of simple minerals was such as might have discouraged the most ardent and persevering mineralogist who ever devoted himself to the science’.




    Sir Roderick Murchison, an English aristocrat who had turned from hunting foxes to hunting fossils, saw the crates of rocks which Strzelecki brought to London and glimpsed strong likenesses between Australia’s coastal spine of mountains and Siberia’s Ural Mountains. As Siberia had the largest goldfield in the world, Australia’s eastern mountains might also contain gold. Receiving gold specimens from Australian admirers in 1846 he urged Cornish miners emigrating to Australia to pan for gold in the rivers. Colonel Helmersen of St Petersburg repeated the advice to Australians. These famous geologists were ignored by Australian shepherds, Cornish emigrants, and the governments in London and the colonies.




    William Branwhite Clarke, a gold-fearing Anglican clergyman, taught in the King’s School near Sydney and preached to the bush sawyers. He longed to visit the mountains that stood smoky blue in the west, for he had studied geology under Professor Sedgwick at Cambridge and had studied rocks in France where he first caught the rheumatic fever that finally exiled him to the warmth of Sydney. In 1841, two years after reaching Sydney, he crossed the mountains with field book and geological hammer, and near the western road at Hartley he was amazed to see specks of gold in granite rubble. In the same area he later found gold embedded in quartz, the largest piece weighing perhaps a pennyweight. He did not visit these places again, and they have not yielded payable gold to this day, and to Clarke they were more a revelation of God’s wonders than riches for Man. He admired Wordsworth and loved Nature, and the trilobite named Trinucleus Clarkeii fascinated him more than gold. He was in holy orders, and gold was ‘the cry of Mammon’ in a country where he saw no honesty in servants and no morality in masters. He believed gold mining was morally and economically undesirable. ‘There is no instance,’ he wrote dogmatically in 1849, ‘of a man making his fortune by opening a gold mine.’




    At his parsonage near Sydney Harbour Clarke collected many specimens of gold given him by country parishioners and wellwishers, and he sent specimens to Professor Sedgwick for the museum at Cambridge. On 9 April 1844 he even showed his best specimen of gold to Governor Gipps. The Governor was apathetic, as well he might be, at the sight of such a tiny fragment of gold. While he has gone down in history as the author of that pithy sentence, ‘Put it away, Mr Clarke, or we shall all have our throats cut’, Clarke himself was the author. He saw gold as a moral menace. Theology seasoned his geology.




    ‘Put it away, Mr Clarke.’ It has been one of the top tunes in the hit parade of Australian history, and historians have long insisted that Gipps and the New South Wales governors prevented the rise of gold mining during the convict era, and that there could be no gold rushes until the governors relented. However, the evidence for an official ban on gold mining is weak. The likelihood of such a ban is also weak, for gold mining was not unfit for a convict society; and in fact much of the world’s gold was being mined by slaves and serfs in Brazil and Siberia. It was the ancient English law, not the governors in Sydney, that more likely choked the mining industry by discouraging the capitalist and mining engineer and the humble discoverers of gold.




    The first metal mines in the continent were opened in the new colony of South Australia, a thousand miles by sea from Sydney. They were found and mined so soon because they were not royal mines and because they lay nearer the coast than any other metal deposits in the settled districts of Australia. Lead was found in boulders on the Glen Osmond hills in 1839, only four miles from the town of Adelaide, and the landowner vowed he would not even sell for £30,000; he would have been wiser to sell. On park-like plains forty miles north of Adelaide a pastoralist’s son found copper ore while picking wildflowers, and a pastoralist found copper nearby while riding in drenching rain in search of straying sheep. ‘My first impression,’ he wrote, ‘was that the rock was covered with a beautiful green moss.’ Dismounting, he found carbonate of copper. The pastoralists were suffering from low wool prices and, eager for a new income, they quietly bought the Crown land at Kapunda that contained the copper. Learning that the copper was rich, they hired three miners and set out in 1844 in a covered dray to open the mine with formal ceremony and ‘an interesting address on mining’. Their mine inspired shepherds and shearers to look elsewhere for the beautiful green and blue stains that signified carbonate of copper. Copper is easier to see than gold, and so many copper deposits were found by 1850 that South Australia was exporting more copper than wool and wheat.




    The fame of South Australia’s copper kings flew east. Men who had ignored minerals became alert. At the busy port of Geelong lead was found near the town reserve and a copper lode was traced into a hill. Cornish miners went to lead and copper lodes near Yass and Bathurst, across the mountains from Sydney. One copper mine lay at Cornish Settlement, only a few hours’ canter from the creek that became Australia’s first goldfield, but the Cornish miners there did not take Murchison’s advice to wash the gravel for gold. Nevertheless, the little mines amongst the gum trees were symbols of a new interest in metals.




    Travellers who rode overland from Sydney to Melbourne in 1848 saw by the road at Mittagong the proudest symbol of the new mining industry. There in the quietness of the bush, a hundred miles from Sydney, were smoking chimneys and the flames of a tiny furnace smelting iron ore. One of the promoters of these Fitzroy Ironworks was William Tipple Smith, a mineralogist. He had sent gold ore to Sir Roderick Murchison in 1848, and on the table of his Sydney office he displayed a specimen of gold ore that was perhaps a subtle persuader to those who came to buy shares in the iron mine. Smith knew where gold had been found in the Bathurst district and he would have tried to open a gold mine but for the archaic law. As he could not own a gold mine perhaps he could be rewarded if he found one for the government. So he showed the Colonial Secretary in the summer of 1848–9 a handsome piece of gold in quartz. The secretary rightly wanted to see the gold deposit before he paid the reward, and strangely Smith backed out. He probably thought that the shepherd who had actually found the gold would get the reward, but whatever his motive he told others what he would not tell the government. He gave those secrets recorded in a guide to gold-finders dated 19 April 1850: ‘Lewis Ponds Creek and Yorky’s Corner, these are very deep in which is the Quartz Rock which contains the G . . d.’ Smith died of paralysis at the close of 1852, just one year after hundreds of diggers had plundered the gold in the rock pools of Yorky’s Corner.




    All these scattered incidents, so close and yet so far. It was not enough to find scattered nuggets of gold or to break gold from the jutting reefs. The treasure hunt had to become an industry, and that required the discovery of large and rich deposits of gold. Now the deposits of gold that were most easily mined were those alluvial layers that had been eroded over the centuries from the hard rock and had been buried in the gravels a few feet beneath the earth’s surface. A chance excavation in the gold regions could have found such a deposit. Dead shepherds no doubt were buried in shallow graves only a few feet above such layers of gold. Holes were dug for posts and trenches for the walls of houses near the gold.




    In the green valleys of north-eastern Victoria David Reid grazed sheep and grew grain, and in the summer of 1845–6 he built a flour mill and large water wheel. To race the water under the wheel his men dug a narrow channel from the creek 150 yards away, and in the channel a labourer saw yellow grains. ‘Master,’ he said, ‘this looks like gold.’ Reid examined the grains and pronounced them mica, arguing that no gold had been found in that part of the world. A brickmaker digging for clay on the creek flats found more yellow grains but Reid did not change his mind. He preferred to harvest the golden grains of wheat.




    Exactly two years later, half-way across the globe, a Californian settler built a sawmill and water wheel on the wooded slopes of the cold Sierra Nevadas. His wheelwright, James Marshall, finding that the tailrace was not deep enough to carry away the flood of water, made his men dig it deeper and then at nights let a flood of water scour the ditch. On a cold January morning he inspected it and thought he saw a flake of gold. He took it in his hand. It was no larger than a melon seed but was certainly gold. Walking along the channel he saw more flakes glittering on the bedrock and shouted to the millhands: ‘Boys, by God, I believe I have found a gold mine.’ He had found more than a gold mine, and within a year Americans were going overland, sailing around Cape Horn, or hurrying across the isthmus at Panama to reach the richest goldfields the world had known. On street corners by the Atlantic coast they sang ‘Oh, California, that’s the land for me’. From London and Sydney and Hamburg tens of thousands of gold-seekers went to Sacramento with the washbowl on their knee.




    In Australia the water wheel turned slowly in summer at the flour mill of David Reid, and who could say what trifling cause preserved that water race from the spades of gold diggers. An enterprising shepherd or a curious visitor could have mined the gold, just as a visitor who had once won gold in Georgia taught the millhands to wash gold and so closed forever the sawmill by the Sacramento. But no visitor disturbed that quiet Australian valley near Beechworth even when news of Californian gold reached Australia in the first months of 1849.




    The first word of the fabulous gold of California seemed a hoax in the quiet Australian ports. A keg of gold ore from San Francisco silenced the doubters in Sydney. Newspapers from California with stories of the first finds reminded Melbourne’s Argus of Aladdin’s treasures and stirred hope in men who were gloomy at the low price of Australia’s wool. Ships waited briefly by Australian wharves, advertising fast trips to the gates of gold.




    Then on to this quivering stage walked a shepherd boy named Chapman with some 38 ounces of gold that he had found on Glenmona station near the present ruins of Amherst, a hundred miles north-west of Melbourne. Not the first man to find gold in those ranges, he walked into the Melbourne shop of Brentani the jeweller in the first month of the California excitement. Brentani examined with quick pulse the gold, and bribed the boy with gifts of clothes and money to reveal where he had found it. From Melbourne the little party set out with horse and dray, but near the sheep run the lad became uneasy, maybe fearing his employers’ anger if he revealed the site of the gold. He disappeared and the dray returned to Melbourne empty.




    News of the gold spread, rumour and fact ingrown. ‘Gold there is, at all events, and of such quality and quantity as the world, save in the case of California, never before witnessed,’ wrote the Melbourne Argus on 6 February 1849. That same day the superintendent of the Port Phillip district, C. J. La Trobe, sent black troopers to disperse those men who were breaking the law by trespassing on the pastoralists’ lands. At the shepherd’s hut the troopers found thirty or forty men had already gathered with pickaxes, shovels and hoes to dig the gold, and baskets and saddle bags to carry it away, but they had so far dug only one shallow barren hole in search of the gold. Officialdom was too efficient. It dispersed the intruders before they could dig down to fantastically rich deposits of alluvial gold only a few feet below the grassroots, and troopers guarded the parched grasslands until all excitement had gone. Then officialdom regretted its efficiency. Search was made for Chapman in Sydney, where he was said to be hiding, but there was no trace of the lad who alone knew where the gold existed. But three years later, when the gold rushes had really begun, La Trobe himself learned the site of the gold, for he reported to his superiors in London that a man and a lad had just dug sixteen pounds’ weight of gold close to Chapman’s hut.




    The gold rush to Chapman’s hut was not entirely thwarted. The Governor of New South Wales, who ruled Australia’s eastern coastline and far inland, decided a month later that a competent geologist should survey the mineral resources of his territory. He made that decision because of the shepherd’s gold, the mysterious gold of Smith the iron promoter, and above all because of the success of the copper mines in neighbouring South Australia and the promise of base-metal mines near the Blue Mountains. His decision was endorsed in London, and Samuel Stutchbury sailed for Sydney as geological surveyor. He was to report on mineral prospects, and so enable the government to stimulate and control the mining of metals.




    The arrival of that fussy, elegant, impractical geologist from England could have been a decisive event, but was not. He rode from Sydney to examine mines in January 1851, and because there were no known gold mines he first examined the copper mines near Bathurst. Eighteen days after he rode west a fat man on a borrowed horse rode up the same road. He was Edward Hammond Hargraves, one of thousands of Australians who had followed the gold to California. As a prospector he was less successful than a score of shepherds who had been before him, but he shrewdly accepted the state of the law and undermined it by a remarkable foray in publicity.


  




  

    2 ‘A Little Excitement’




    IRISES STILL COME into flower by a forgotten road north-west of Bathurst in New South Wales. Once the Wellington Inn stood by the road, and there on the evening of 12 February 1851 a giant of a man and a few specks of metal created excitement and amusement. The man was Edward Hammond Hargraves, and he held a slip of paper enfolding three or four grains of gold.




    The lodgers and drinkers were eager to see the gold. One examined it through a magnifying glass, another through a glass tumbler, and could barely see the yellow grains. Told that they were living in a gold region as rich as California they scoffed. But the stout visitor was so assured and affable that he was not derided openly, even by those who had no fear of a man weighing about eighteen stone.




    At the hotel at Guyong that morning Hargraves had borrowed a tin dish, small pick, and bricklayer’s trowel before riding in search of gold. Guided by the publican’s son, John Hardman Australia Lister, he had ridden north twelve or fourteen miles down the valley of the Lewis Ponds Creek. The river was dry that summer, but about midday they found a waterhole and made a pot of tea and hobbled their horses. Hargraves then announced that he would wash gold. Eagerly watched by his guide he walked down to a bar of rock in the dry creek and scraped sand and gravel into the tin dish. Back at the waterhole he scooped water and swirled the dish with rhythmic motion of the arms. He was practising the age-old art of panning, and if there was gold in the dish it would work its way down through the lighter gravel to the bottom. Anxiously he palmed with his hand the top layer of gravel from the dish. At last only a film of sediment remained in the dish, and peering in he saw a grain of gold. With his penknife he lifted the grain and put it in a slip of creased paper. Again he took a dish of gravel and laboriously washed it by the waterhole, and again he saw a grain of gold. Six dishes he washed, and all but one yielded a grain of gold. ‘This,’ he said, ‘is a memorable day in the history of New South Wales. I shall be a baron, you will be knighted, and my old horse will be stuffed, put into a glass case and sent to the British Museum.’ Hargraves did not become a baron, but he did become a justice of the peace.




    Hargraves was aged thirty-four, an Englishman by birth and an Orangeman by politics, and had lived nearly half his life in Australia. He had been a sailor, station overseer, farmer, publican, shipping agent, cattle owner, succeeding at none of these trades. In 1849 he went to California to dig gold, and boasted of his success. ‘The greater our success was,’ he wrote later in his ghosted autobiography, ‘the more anxious did I become to put my own persuasion to the test, the existence of gold in New South Wales.’ In fact he was not a lucky digger; he was not even energetic. A man of his weight found it exhausting to shovel gravel or work the cradle all day, and of the year he spent in California he actually dug for gold only a few months. He liked instead to potter about the camp or to yarn around the fire, and he would discuss with his friend Davison whether Australia might be rich in gold. They discussed places where gold had been found, and McGregor the gold-finder was often in their talk. When in March 1850 Hargraves was lodging in San Francisco to avoid winter on the goldfields, he wrote to a Sydney merchant: ‘I am very forcibly impressed that I have been in a gold region in New South Wales, within three hundred miles of Sydney.’ Always restless, the idea of finding payable gold in his own land obsessed him. With the approach of his second winter in California he thought of snow and iced winds and hastened his plans to return to Sydney. Concern for his wife and five children who were struggling at the timber port of East Gosford (N.S.W.) added to his restlessness. And so, having failed again in a new occupation, he walked the wooden sidewalks of San Francisco for the last time and joined disappointed Australians who were sailing home.




    Hargraves had unruffled confidence. Back in Sydney in the hot January of 1851 he boasted openly that he would find a goldfield. He told the jeweller to whom he sold his gold dust. He told a Sydney solicitor, James Norton, and even persuaded him to write to the Colonial Secretary requesting a grant to equip him for his journey. When this grant was refused he persuaded a Sydney businessman named Northwood to lend him money to buy a horse and provisions. Northwood lent £105 on condition that Hargraves shared his gains. He was to find that Hargraves was as shrewd with his sums as his tongue.




    Travellers on the road that led west from Sydney saw a stout man with florid face and black moustaches jogging towards the Blue Mountains on 5 February 1851. Hargraves was riding west to find gold in places where gold had already been found. He had heard from the Colonial Secretary that gold had been found in quartz at the Carcoar sheep run of the wealthy squatter, Thomas Icely, and he knew himself that a shepherd had found gold at Wellington. Learning near Bathurst that Icely was absent from his estate, he went towards Wellington. And it was on the road to Wellington that he halted at the inn of the widow Lister and changed his plans. The mantelpieces were crowded with specimens of copper and pyrites and quartz, for a copper mine was working nearby and men had sought for gold and many minerals. And down the creek which flowed past the hotel was Yorky’s Corner where the shepherd had found the gold which W. T. Smith showed the Governor in 1849.




    Hargraves certainly made his famous trip of 12 February in order to examine an area where he knew gold had already been found. Hence his boast to his young guide at the waterhole before he had even washed a dish of dirt that the gold lay under his very feet. Hence his journey in the direction of Yorky’s Corner, which he would have reached but for the scarcity of water with which to wash the gravel. Hence, too, his decision to return home early that day for fear that the shepherd in the neighbourhood, who had already found gold, would disturb him. There seems no reason to believe Hargraves’ story that he had visited the Lewis Ponds Creek in search of lost bullocks in the 1830s, that he had noted when he reached California that its gold regions had similar rocks, and had therefore returned to the Australian creek to prove his wisdom as a geologist and skill as a gold-finder. Hargraves in fact made a less spectacular but none the less sensible observation, that Australia’s gold was not being mined because few who sought it knew where to search or how to search. Indeed, Hargraves suffered from the same defect, but in his inimitable way he atoned for it.




    From the inn Hargraves made a longer search for gold with Lister and a 29-year-old neighbour, James Tom, a tough cattle drover. They rode seventy miles to the west, then came up the Macquarie River and prospected many of its tributaries. The two young men supplied the food and did the work, Hargraves preferring to prospect on horseback. That was not an efficient way of searching for gold, but his enthusiasm infected his mates and they eagerly dismounted to pan specks of gold in the dry creeks. After ten or twelve days they returned without finding gold in sufficient amount to pay.




    Panning for gold in a tin dish was too slow and unprofitable except where the ground was rich, so Hargraves taught his mates how to make a larger, more efficient contrivance—the Californian cradle. James Tom’s brother, William, was handyman, and at his father’s new two-storeyed homestead he set to work one night at a carpenter’s bench. Sawing and hammering far into the night, he made the cradle and placed it under the verandah. Next morning a carpenter saw the strange wooden box that was to affect decisively his own life and perhaps the lives of millions.
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      2 Early gold towns in New South Wales


    




    ‘What, in the name of fortune, is that?’ said Carpenter Brown.




    ‘That is a bird-cage,’ said Tom.




    ‘What is it for?’




    ‘To catch birds.’




    ‘What sort of birds?’




    ‘Very valuable birds.’




    ‘Where do you catch them?’




    ‘On the Canobla mountain; every one caught will be worth a pound,’ replied the cheeky lad. The carpenter was puzzled at the answers, but recalled on oath forty years later that he believed them.




    They placed the cradle on the bank of the creek below Parson Tom’s house, shovelled in gravel, and Hargraves showed them how to rock the cradle so that the heavy gold was retained while the lighter gravel and earth escaped. As they found no gold in the valley the three Tom brothers loaded the cradle weighing a hundredweight on a horse and went to the auriferous country ten or more miles away. They reached a long sheet of water on Lewis Ponds Creek about midnight. Next day one brother waded into the water and filled buckets with gravel from the creekbed; another brother carried the buckets to the cradle and a third rocked the cradle. Every bucket yielded a few fragments of fine gold, and at home that night they weighed it on the family medicine scales and tallied sixteen grains.




    Hargraves meantime had gone over the mountains to Sydney to ask the government for a reward. He knew that gold mining was a lottery and that even if he found a rich field he himself might dig little gold. He knew too that all gold belonged to the Crown and that it was wise to depend on the Crown for a reward. In Sydney he waited three hours in a wet overcoat to interview Deas Thomson, Colonial Secretary, and optimistically said he had found a goldfield. Asked for evidence he flourished the creased sheet of paper holding the few grains of gold. Thomson could barely see them and was sceptical. Hargraves, unruffled, asked the government for £500 to compensate him for his costly search—a search on which he could hardly have spent one-fifth of that sum. As for the rest of the reward he would await the generosity of the government. Twelve days later the government told him to say where he had found his gold. Hargraves ingeniously replied with two letters, one naming the golden streams and the other requesting a loan of £30 to buy a new horse. Hargraves got the horse and rode west to meet the government’s mineral surveyor and show him the goldfield.




    While Hargraves was negotiating in Sydney, John Lister and William Tom found what he had failed to find. On the morning of 7 April they had gone north to Yorky’s Corner to search the area where the shepherd had found his nugget. About two miles downstream from Hargraves’ first find they hobbled their horses and camped. ‘I was buttoning the brace of my trousers,’ recalled Tom, when suddenly gold glistened from a crevice of rock. He picked it up and Lister cut it with his knife to see if it was gold. Elated, they fetched the cradle hidden in the scrub and washed fine gold near the site of the nugget. Lister rode his horse further down the creek and saw a two-ounce nugget on the ground. Returning to the homestead when their food was exhausted they balanced the gold on the scales with sixteen new sovereigns borrowed from the widow Lister. They had found four ounces of gold, had found a payable goldfield, had found their Ophir.




    Hargraves learned by post of their discovery before he left Sydney to meet the government geologist, and instead of meeting him he visited Guyong and purchased the nuggets of gold on 6 May. He sent some pieces by mail to the Colonial Secretary and held the remaining gold for a more important mission. In company with the Toms he visited the new gold diggings for the first time, quietly breaking the news that he had told the government of the discoveries. The Toms and Lister protested that their new diggings would be invaded by intruders, and argued that they could win a fortune if they could work alone in the creek. ‘Oh nonsense,’ said Hargraves, ‘if you work you will dirty the water, and when shepherds come to water their sheep you are sure to be discovered.’ If all they wanted was secure tenure of the richest ground, Hargraves could easily arrange it. Impudently he wrote on a sheet of paper the words ‘On Her Majesty’s Service’, named the richest point of the creek FitzRoy Bar, named the area Ophir, and gave the bearers exclusive right to the gold.




    To name the diggings after the biblical city of gold and to name the richest point after the Governor of the colony suggests that Hargraves was a master of publicity. Indeed his behaviour that day was the prelude to a shrewd campaign. As he had pegged his own claim on the government’s files rather than on the banks of the creek, he was in an unusual position. Instead of being secretive he was talkative. The more men he could attract to Ophir the higher the chance of finding a widespread goldfield. And the richer the goldfield the higher the prospect of a favourable report from the government geologist and a generous reward from the government. Whispered conversation in the inn at Guyong warned Hargraves to be discreet but he rode to Bathurst with the news on his sleeve. In that busy country town he lectured one evening on his discovery, displayed pieces of gold, and told his excited audience where to find it and how to mine it.




    A senior public servant, the local Commissioner of Crown Lands, heard the news and hurried in alarm to Ophir to find seven or eight men digging for gold in the creek. He told them they were trespassing on Crown land. The law-breakers defiantly produced the un-authorized authority from Hargraves. The official, Charles Green, turned back to Bathurst and wrote excitedly on 8 May to the Colonial Secretary suggesting ways of preventing the labouring classes from deserting their jobs. He had no sooner returned to Bathurst than Hargraves left the town at the head of a troop of horsemen, and at Ophir he showed them likely places to dig and how to wash for gold. Soon the thirty miles of track to Ophir were marked with the hooves of horses and the wide tracks of drays. The Bathurst Free Press hailed this ‘second California’, and copies of the paper were read disbelievingly in front of hundreds of stoves and hearths. A man reached Bathurst with a piece of gold worth £30. It was smaller than a matchbox but it was magnified in a thousand minds.




    Charles Green, getting no reply to his desperate letter to Sydney, wrote again five days later. He said that the ‘excitement in Bathurst among all classes is intense’. Hundreds of men had gone or were about to go to the diggings, and so many were taking firearms that he feared that all the violence of California would be seen in the steep valley of Ophir. Thomas Icely, the rich pastoralist, decided that he should see this magic valley and rode out to find hundreds of men pitching camp or digging gold in pieces the size of a sovereign. Frightened that men would loot his property on their way to the diggings he went home and removed all plate and treasure and refused to stay in the house while the excitement was raging. As he went to Sydney he counted 138 men in one day hurrying west to the diggings.




    At nervous Icely’s homestead near Carcoar, Hargraves at last met Samuel Stutchbury, the government’s mineralogical surveyor, and escorted him to Ophir. On 14 May he reached the goldfield and wrote a hasty note to the Colonial Secretary that he had just had time to prove that gold definitely existed. Hargraves galloped back with the letter to Guyong and gave it to the driver of the Sydney mail coach. Then he settled in at the hotel to be lionized by successful diggers and plagued by intending diggers. On 18 May he wrote to Deas Thomson with cunning restraint: ‘The effect of my appearance in the district has caused a little excitement amongst the people’, and he estimated that 500 were digging gold.




    It was well for Hargraves to conceal his part in fanning the excitement. Solely through his publicity the diggings had been rushed weeks before a rush could have been expected. Through his campaign the government faced a crisis, and what is more it did not even know that there was a crisis. Ophir was 170 miles from Sydney, and the only chain of contact was the mail coach and a mountainous road that was slippery and boggy in winter rain. So the letter written anxiously by Commissioner Green at Bathurst on 8 May did not reach Deas Thomson in Sydney for another five days, and even then caused no alarm. Thomson still doubted that gold existed west of the ranges. He had shown Hargraves’ latest specimens of gold to the American Consul, who learnedly declaimed that the mountains of New South Wales were not high enough to yield gold. He showed the gold to a miner fresh from California and he too scoffingly said that the gold had come from California; he even suggested that two of the specimens had come from the Feather River and the other from the Yuba. Such testimony was so convincing that the Executive Council met in Sydney on 13 May and did not even discuss the topic that was on every tongue on the other side of the mountains.




    Two days later—two precious days—the government could no longer discount the news. The Sydney Morning Herald carried word of gold into every house in Sydney and every ship at anchor. The second letter arrived from Commissioner Green predicting Californian violence on the new diggings. Even then the government did not act. The crisis was hard to believe, harder to tackle. Next day Thomson enquired of his legal advisers whether the existing laws would enable him to control the diggings. And before he had received a reply he sent letters to Bathurst ordering the Inspector of Police and Commissioner Green to go out and halt the digging of the Crown’s gold.




    Deas Thomson and Governor FitzRoy feared desperadoes and petty thieves and released convicts would quickly gather at the goldfields. Shepherds and drovers would leave their sheep, farmers would abandon their plough, seamen the sea and schoolmasters the schools, policemen would desert their beats and jailers would desert their prisoners. Law and industry might be submerged in the rush for gold.




    Where could the government turn for guidance? Neither Great Britain nor any British colony had had to face such a crisis. California had gold rushes, but the gold was found just after the United States had taken the territory from Mexico and the temporary military rulers did nothing to regulate the goldfields. California therefore gave no precedent and no guidance, except a reputation of lawlessness.




    It was too late for the government to ban the digging of gold. Hundreds of men were digging and could not be stopped, as Commissioner Green sadly reported on 25 May: ‘I have served many of the numerous parties now digging for Gold with Notices to desist, to which notices they pay but little attention.’ Thomson knew that the colony did not have enough policemen and soldiers to drive away the diggers, and even if it did have the soldiers they might drop their arms and themselves dig for gold. When pastoralist James Macarthur proposed martial law and when Major-General Stewart suggested that the government mine the gold itself, they were told by Thomson that it ‘would be madness to attempt to stop that which we have not physical force to put down’. The Governor’s answer was more vivid, and he told London that it was as hazardous to stop the waves of the sea as the rush to the diggings.




    All they could do was to sanction and regulate the rush. Their one baton against the mob was the licensing system. By insisting that every digger buy a licence they could raise money with which to police the goldfields, and they could issue licences on such terms that thousands would be discouraged from seeking gold.




    To drug the excitement and deter gold diggers was a vital aim of official policy. It was so crucial that on Saturday, 17 May the Governor and Colonial Secretary and commander of the forces decided to issue no edict on gold for fear that it would aggravate the excitement. They still doubted if the goldfields were rich and for five days they hesitated to act. On 22 May the Governor wrote his first despatch to England on the new discoveries and suggested that Hargraves was exaggerating the gold for his own ends and that his gold came from California. But before his despatch was put on board a ship bound for Valparaiso, another report arrived from Stutchbury the geologist. With surprise the Governor read that many men were winning an ounce or two a day with only a tin dish and that gold would be found over a Vast extent of country’. So wrote Stutchbury in pencil ‘as there is no ink yet in the City of Ophir’.




    With that pencilled note on his table the Governor could no longer dither. Invoking a sixteenth-century lawsuit, Queen Elizabeth v. the Earl of Northumberland, he proclaimed the Crown’s right to all gold found in New South Wales. No man could dig that gold without buying a licence, and the government charged 30 shillings a month for the licence in the hope that it would be high enough to drive unlucky diggers back to their normal jobs and yet not so high that it would provoke defiance.




    At first the fee seemed likely to be defied. Even before the first licences were sold the police magistrate at Bathurst heard rumour that diggers intended to resist the fee. He believed the rumour was true and wrote hastily to Sydney. On 30 May the government ordered the Inspector of Police to prepare to send reinforcements to the goldfields in horse-drawn carriages. A detachment of soldiers stood by in Sydney, ‘ready to march to the Gold fields at short notice’.




    The success of the licensing system and perhaps the stability of the colony depended on John R. Hardy, new Commissioner of Crown Lands for the gold district. With ten henchmen, armed and mounted, he had to issue the licences, administer the diggings, settle quarrels, and serve justice in court of petty sessions. He reached Ophir on 3 June and saw over a thousand men camped along the creek. He had no tent, no table, not even a candle by whose light he could write at night the reports that the government nervously awaited. On his first morning he went down the creek and collected the tax with so little trouble that he complained only of the tedium of repeatedly writing out licences, weighing the gold the diggers offered in payment, and marking out the area to which he decreed each man was entitled. His sole excitement was restraining a muscular butcher from invading other men’s ground in search of gold. The butcher poached on other claims whenever they seemed to be rich, and when he was warned a second time he snatched a spade and threatened to hit the commissioner. ‘I instantly collared him,’ wrote Hardy, ‘put him in handcuffs, and marched him off the ground.’ Even that scuffle did not disturb the commissioner and he reported that Ophir was as quiet as the quietest English town.




    Hardy’s tact made the licensing system effective. He let newcomers work unlicensed for several days in the hope that they might dig enough gold to buy their licence, and over two thousand came and went without buying a licence. Hardy was too tolerant in the eyes of the government. The Colonial Secretary insisted that all men buy a licence before they lifted a spade of earth, and Hardy protestingly complied. He was a democrat and he thought the system was unfair, but the government had intended it to be unfair. The licence was a tax on the unsuccessful digger, forcing him back to his farm or forge. It was a passport to be issued to no man who had left his previous employer without leave. It was an identity card that was not transferable—on the butt of the licence was a description of the digger, the colour of his beard, the tattoo on his arm, described with a leavening of tact because ‘much offence might be given by attempting a perfect exactness’. As a crisis measure the digger’s licence was masterly in design and initial execution. The tragedy was that like many taxes it remained long after the crisis had passed. In 1854 it was to incite an even graver crisis—armed rebellion at Ballarat.




    The skies blessed the government and cursed the gold-seekers in the first cry of the rush. It was winter, and nights on the diggings were frosty and ice stiffened the morning puddles. Slush on the roads, and the high prices of provisions, deterred hundreds of men from travelling west. Hundreds were deterred by the licence, which after Hardy’s initial generosity was firmly enforced. The policeman who walked his beat examining the licences and smashing the cradles and tools of the unlicensed men might complain that diggers escaped behind rocks or into the bush, but compared to later diggings the narrow-walled valley was tailored for officialdom.




    Fortunes were won in a fortnight at Ophir. Some men earned as much in a fortnight of gold-digging as they had earned in a year digging drains. However, there was little gold for the weak or the lazy. Men had to lever away heavy boulders that covered the river flats, and then dig through several feet of coarse gravel to the layer of washdirt. After rain the creek became a torrent and flooded holes laboriously dug to within inches of the golden bottom. Many men dug hole after hole and found only traces of gold. Some got £300 from the clayslate bottom of their first hole and found no more in months of digging. Commissioner Hardy reckoned on arriving at the diggings that half of the 1,500 men had averaged £1 a day; ‘You may depend upon this as a fact,’ he said. A pound a day was high money to men who had earned four shillings a day in flour mills or on wharves.




    In the dark, lights glowed in tents or through chinks of wooden huts occupied by men from every occupation. Decayed gentlemen boiled mutton in a black pot and proud farmers lay on soiled blankets under drays. Seamen and men who had never seen the sea sat on logs with their quartpot of tea. Thieves who knew the ways of thieves slept with their firearms by claim and cradle. Jewish merchants called at tents to buy gold from bearded shepherds who denounced in Gaelic the accuracy of their scales. Clamour and singing betrayed the sly-grog shop, sharpening of knives the butchery, the sound of the anvil that blacksmith’s humpy where diggers’ horses were shod by the light of the forge. Men of every trade were now manual labourers. ‘I could get anything done even if I wanted my watch mended, or my hair cut, or clothes mended, there were men whose trade it was,’ wrote Gideon Lang of his quartz mine. Most of these grimy hands would have been better washed and plying their old trade. The strong men, the common labourers, found most gold.




    Ophir’s gold lay in shallow ground but many of the parties came with elaborate equipment. Four men walking beside a jolting dray would halt at unclaimed ground, and from the dray would come heavy crowbars and picks, shovels and buckets, axe and tomahawk, tin milk dishes and a wooden cradle for the gold washing and maybe a water-lifter for baling a flooded hole, not to mention the paraphernalia of the camp. They would cut saplings and rig a tarpaulin and by nightfall the bread was in the camp oven, a leg of lamb in the black iron pot, and the kettle lid rattling in steam. A party of four from Sydney spent about £37 on equipment and licences before they put a pick in the ground. Others who came with only a swag on the shoulder, bought pick and shovel and pan, and borrowing and contriving managed to live and dig.




    Down the steep hill called Blacksmith’s Pinch in July 1851 rode a captain of the Royal Navy to see the famous Ophir before his ship sailed from Sydney. Rising from blankets and opossum skin rug on a frosty morning he walked down the ravine with a gold buyer to see the desolation of water-logged holes and mounds of gravel. He was surprised to see only one drunken man and the widespread respect for his own naval rank, and delighted to witness near sunset a sailor hand the gold buyer a flat nugget of gold weighing over 4 pounds and acclaimed as the best nugget yet found on Ophir. Back to Sydney went Captain Erskine with this lump of gold he had bought and a bundle of notes that became one of the shelf of new gold books selling in London: A Short Account of the Late Discoveries of Gold in Australia; with notes of a visit to the gold district.




    Erskine visited Ophir in the third month of the rush and even then it was half looted of its gold. Only two hundred men dug where perhaps two thousand once had dug, and Ophir was in its. long decline. Today, by the weeping willows and the gravel drifts, a lonely obelisk spells the names of the gold-finders, for there is neither ink nor pencil in the city of Ophir.




    The government fears even in May 1851 that Ophir will soon decay. Police-Inspector Scott warns that the Vast herd’ may soon have nowhere to dig. In fear of disorder the government calls on Hargraves to find new fields. At a meeting of the Executive Council on 3 June he heartens the Governor with his irresponsible prediction: ‘I imagine the southern parts of this Colony, Goulburn, Gundagai, and Murrumbidgee, from what I have heard, to be more rich than the western.’ He is made Commissioner of Crown Lands with fee and expense account of £2. 10s. a day and leaves with servant and horses to find new goldfields. Leading the packhorse through rough country he covers nine hundred miles in two months, the ashes of his campfires close to auriferous ground that he doesn’t see. Always preaching that his corner of the continent was studded with gold, he finds gold hard to find.




    As Hargraves’ tour provides no new fields, the Governor invites the Reverend W. B. Clarke also to search for gold. He curses the gold that has lured masters from his parish schools and made dissolute the lucky diggers from his flock, but taking his bishop’s blessing he leaves his comfortable parsonage with its library and catalogued museum and rides inland to find goldfields and lost souls. On Sundays he preaches under wattle trees or in shepherds’ huts and on week days he moves through the bush observing the rocks and testing his strange theory that gold-bearing regions have definite relation to the quadrature of the circle.




    Clarke’s tracks cross those of Hargraves and so do their reports, one claiming a spot is rich in gold and the other claiming it worthless. Clarke is often right, and some of the hundred promising regions he reveals to the government become famous. But while the success of his earthly predictions pleases him, the success of his spiritual prediction does not. He has long preached that gold is a symbol of lust and now he sees the poison in homes and lives. He sees many drunken men in Sydney’s streets that were known for their quietness, and often the employers of tradesmen tell him: ‘We can do nothing for the men are all drinking.’




    The government need not have worried about finding goldfields for the restless diggers. Its own licensing system forced many to search for new deposits far from Commissioner Hardy’s vigilant troopers. By June 1851 men were leaving Ophir and pushing north-east across the ranges to the Turon River to shovel lush turf where sheep and cattle had safely grazed. The gold was sprinkled at least twenty miles along the Turon ‘as regular as wheat in a sown field’, reported Hardy when he overtook the wandering diggers. He thought any hard worker could win ten shillings a day—twice a labourer’s pay—and it was common talk that three men with five hired labourers had won .£1,800 in a month. It was clear to Hardy that the gold within forty miles of Bathurst had no limit, and on 10 July he found a spot where sixty unlicensed diggers had each won about £3 for the day. ‘I was beset by a crowd,’ he added, ‘all thrusting their pound notes into my face, and begging me to mark their boundaries.’ Though the gold was scattered and hundreds of men therefore evaded the tax, seven of every ten licences issued in the colony by October had been issued on the Turon. It was premier field for several years with perhaps a peak population of six or seven thousand in 1852.




    Travellers descending into the green valley of the Turon saw wispy white smoke rising up the hills from tents and open fires and heard the hollow sound of axes and the murmurous noise of the cradles. The main town of Sofala was new and unpainted with tents and drays and wooden stores in crooked rows. Its streets were wheel ruts and hoof pads in the mud. Hotels and lodging houses had calico walls that swayed in the wind. It was a camp of effervescent wealth, and though thousands of pounds in gold went out each Tuesday morning in the government’s armed escort to parents and families in Sydney, there was still enough soiled paper money for the forty public houses, enough gold dust to fill jars in butchers’ and drapers’, and sovereigns and silver to bulge purses of men who crowded in on Saturday night. One former Californian vowed that seven of every eight diggers squandered their money in hotels on Saturday night. About 20 per cent of the men were teetotallers, another miner noted tactfully. Most men wore the long curved bowie-knife to prise gold from cracks and wedges in the bedrock and they carried arms to defend their gold, and with so many knives and guns and grog shops the visiting clergyman wondered at the infrequency of murder and assault.




    Bank clerks in Bathurst weighed gold from the Turon and marvelled at its abundance. They ceased to marvel after a day in July 1851. On a sheep station fifty miles north of Bathurst, near the present ghost town of Hargraves, an Aborigine was casually watching his master’s sheep. Passing an outcrop of white stone he cracked it with his tomahawk and saw so much gold that he rushed to the homestead of his master, Dr Kerr. They hurried back and broke the gold-studded quartz into several lumps and took two hundredweight in all to the homestead and then on a long journey to Bathurst. The doctor arrived in a cart pulled by two greys in tandem, and bystanders lifted the tin trunk of the gold and staggered under the weight. One lump was a foot in diameter and too heavy for the scales, so was taken to a second bank and finally weighed. Over half the stone was quartz, but 1,272 ounces was gold. It was larger than any mass of gold reported from California and larger than the celebrated 70-pound lump in the St Petersburg museum. ‘Bathurst is mad again! The delirium of golden fever . . .’ diagnosed the local Free Press on 16 July. The Sydney Morning Herald predicted a sensation such as ‘was never produced before’ when the news reached London. It already knew the sensation in Sydney, for that day it sold 4,150 newspapers—perhaps an Australian record. And one copy went that night to a ship bound for Java with the Governor’s excited despatch for England in its mails.




    Kerr and the Aboriginal gold-finder had even more excitement. Just as the doctor had apparently confiscated the gold from its finder, so the Crown temporarily confiscated the gold from the doctor because he had no licence to mine £4,160 of the Crown’s treasure. Meanwhile he had rewarded the Aborigines, Jemmy, Daniel and Tommy, with two flocks of sheep, a team of bullocks, a dray, and utensils and trinkets, and they ‘soon appeared dressed in the first style, and riding about like other gentlemen’. News of their elevation to the gentry reached the Apsley Aboriginal Mission at Wellington where they had once lived, and most Aborigines deserted the mission for the goldfields, and the missionary prayed for their safe return: ‘Return they did, all whom death had spared,’ he wrote finally with pride and pathos.




    This golden reef by the Meroo Creek became the new mecca. A thousand licences were issued by the end of October to men chipping at the white reef and digging for gold that had eroded from the reef. Twenty-four yards from the reef Brenan dug through clay and found a £1,156 nugget, and his neighbours found nuggets close to the grassroots—one of them a deep yellow piece of 157 ounces that took the majestic name of ‘King of the Waterworn Nuggets’.




    Bathurst might be mad but the colony was not. The mails got through, the clerks sat at high stools in the counting houses, and there were men to tend newborn lambs in frosts. Thousands of men went digging one month and were at their old jobs the next. Of the colony’s 190,000 people possibly no more than 6,000 were on the diggings on any one day in the winter of 1851; of the colony’s workforce perhaps not more than one in twenty was on the diggings. Nevertheless, that wise civil servant Deas Thomson could not be complacent. When the days lengthened and the sun dried the roads, thousands of men might leave their firesides. And with harvest and shearing coming, could the colony spare them?




    Thomson went west in August to find an answer. Driven in a gig over slippery roads to Turon he gloried in the beauty of the valley at sundown as he watched the gold-washing. Questioning diggers he decided the average man was winning so much gold that it ‘would be very undesirable on every ground’ to publicize it. He still feared the goldfields might explode. He feared famine if the harvest should rot and he feared wide insolvencies if the sheep went unshorn. Should he ban gold mining in the summer, or double the licence fee? These schemes tossed in his brain as he sheltered from days of rain at Carcoar and wrote confidentially to the Governor. After twenty-three pages he reluctantly decided his plans were too dangerous to enforce.




    The sky cleared and Thomson rode forty miles to Ophir. It tired him, a staid man of fifty-one, to climb around boulders on the creek bed and pleased him to see the diggers so quiet and respectful. When he called again at Sofala he was cheered to see only one drunken man (not even riotously drunk) and to see little groups gathered in prayer around Methodist preachers. His faith in the digger was high as he returned to Sydney. His fears for the harvest were also high, for in the three weeks that divided his two visits to Sofala another 1,500 men had arrived.




    Summer ripens the grain. The harvest is reaped and the sheep are shorn. Delighted, if a trifle bewildered, Thomson questions a respectable citizen from the goldfields: ‘is it the practice of many diggers to go away from the diggings to shearing and harvest?’ The citizen answers, ‘Yes; they look at that as a sort of holiday, as many of them can get together and spin unlimited yarns at such seasons; it is a favourite occupation with them’.




    The year 1851 was one of crisis for New South Wales, and Deas Thomson had guided his colony with gentle hands.


  




  

    3 Victoria’s Rushes




    LESS THAN TEN miles east of the hut where the Victorian shepherd Chapman had found his mysterious gold, a creek cut deep into green plains. Snug in the hollow of this Deep Creek, Donald Cameron had the homestead of his Clunes pastoral run, and from the long verandahs earthen paths curved to garden and orchard. Cameron thought a load of gravel would grace those paths, and he mentioned his idea to another squatter, William Campbell, who suggested that the reefs of white quartz a quarter-mile upstream would provide white pebbles. Cameron dallied in collecting the pebbles. Some time later Campbell was thinking of Californian gold and the shepherd Chapman’s gold when he suddenly thought of the reefs on the banks of Deep Creek. Inspecting them in March 1850 he saw specks of gold in crevices. Cameron the squatter was not impressed: ‘I never considered it to be of any value,’ he wrote.




    Along the ungravelled paths to Cameron’s homestead came a German physician and geologist, Dr Georg Hermann Bruhn, who had ridden west from Melbourne in search of gold in the month that Hargraves had ridden from Sydney. In the dark ranges near Daylesford he had found a quartz vein, and in loose lumps of rock he had seen two specks of gold. Blazing a tree he rode hopefully on, asking all he met the persistent question: had they found gold? Near Cameron’s station shepherds led him to the golden reef on the banks of the creek. Proudly, if impersonally, he wrote, ‘Should gold not exist in the locality mentioned by Dr Bruhn, he not only perils his character but his professional abilities.’ His character was not imperilled. Ten years later the reefs sustained Australia’s largest gold mine.




    Bruhn was eccentric and impractical, travelling in search of gold without mining tools. His search was for knowledge, not gain, and so he spread the news of gold. His most eager listener by the firesides of huts and homesteads was James Esmond, a bush sawyer near Burn Bank village who had returned from San Francisco on the same ship as Hargraves and knew how to wash gold and the delight of finding it. ‘Happy Jim’ they called this alert bushman with the strange mongolian face, and happily he went in a spring cart with his mate Pugh to find the gold. Their cart slid down the valley to Cameron’s high-roofed homestead, and they saw gold in rock and earth. Their first reaction, unlike Cameron’s or Bruhn’s, was silence. They rode one hundred miles to Melbourne and said nothing of gold in a city that was greedy for news. The ironwork bought for their cradle, they rode to Geelong to buy provisions, and in the port they guardedly showed specimens of quartz to a gold broker who in turn introduced them to a newspaper reporter. They did not reveal the site of their gold until he promised not to publish the news for seven days.




    Within seven days the news was stale. The pastoralist Campbell wrote about the gold to a friend in Melbourne who announced the news on 8 July. That same day Donald Cameron sat in his Clunes homestead and wrote to tell the Lieutenant-Governor, La Trobe, that he had just seen half a dozen men digging the banks of the creek. At the village of Burn Bank, ten miles away, the storekeeper was about to spread the news of gold to promote the trade of his iron-roofed emporium. And in Melbourne a committee which had offered 200 guineas to incite the finding of a payable goldfield found many claimants bellowing for the reward.




    There was no sudden rush to Clunes. At the end of the month only fifty men and two women were camped in tents and covered drays and under carts, yarning at night of gold by open fires fanned by chill winds. A washerwoman came to preside over a line of flapping clothes and red-coated troopers came, walking in pairs through Victoria’s first gold camp. By day the sides of the creek were busy with the cradles or swirling dishes of golden earth men had carried down the hill balanced on their heads. And at the foot of the reef men scraped with knives the red earth from clefts in the quartz, and even fractured the hard rock itself with picks and crowbars. It was gouging more than mining, so primitive that the gold barely paid, but by the start of August the men were more adept, and reliable observers computed the average earnings of nearly a hundred men at the ducal wage of ten shillings a day.




    Meanwhile gold was being found within a day’s walk of Melbourne in a small creek that flowed into the Yarra River. The finder, Louis Michel, ran the Rainbow Hotel at the corner of Swanston and Little Collins Streets in Melbourne, and had been so perturbed by the exodus of customers and cronies to Ophir and Turon that he decided only gold would lure them back. With a party he went thrice into the ranges east of Melbourne, and though most of the men gave up Michel persisted. He and William Habberlin made a last search, creeping from Melbourne before dawn on a winter morning to avoid being followed by other prospectors. In thick scrub about eighteen miles from Melbourne the young publican dug a small hole and gave his mate a dish of earth which he panned in the manner described in Sydney newspapers.




    

      ‘Do you see anything, Bill?’ said I. After once or twice saying no, he suddenly exclaimed: ‘Your Worship, here’s the clickerty’. Eagerly examining the residue, we found it contained ten small grains of gold.


    




    Next morning, 14 July 1851, they had hot coffee and damper at a nearby hut occupied by a bushman named Ginger, quietly washed more gold from their creek, and walked to Melbourne with light swags in time to wash, change, and take the gold to the scales of a city chemist. Their goldfield’s proximity to Melbourne excited men who had resisted the call of Ophir. Michel left the bar of the Rainbow and chased his own rainbow on Anderson’s Creek at Warrandyte, and within a month eighty to a hundred men were scraping the slate bedrock a few feet below the surface for small nuggets. A few won 15s. to £1 a day, but many barely earned rations and many earned nothing. The evening fog that settled on the Yarra Valley became a pall of gloom to men who returned to camp each night with neither gold nor hope of gold.




    Clunes for all its isolation still attracted most men, and on the road gold-seekers would pass through a town at the foot of timbered Mount Buninyong. It was perhaps the biggest inland town in the colony with a boarding school and Presbyterian pastor and physician, and of course a blacksmith. Hiscock was the blacksmith, and he got the gold mania. He first looked for gold after the excitement of Chapman’s gold in 1849 and the Californian news intensified his unskilled searchings. ‘I did not know how to go to work to find it,’ he recalled. ‘Many a time I have gone about on my hands and knees searching the ground for gold.’ Nor did he recognize the appearance of gold, and he gave the mailman so many samples of what he thought were auriferous rocks to take to the experts in Geelong that the mailman refused to take more. He said the jewellers laughed at his samples of fool’s gold. But the blacksmith was no fool. On Friday, 8 August, he carried a crowbar and a milk dish along the main road and began to break rocks of quartz. To his delight he saw gold gleaming in the marble stone, and when he washed the nearby earth in his milk dish he saw flakes of alluvial gold that were doubly precious. On the Sunday he took his gold to the coach driver and was reassured that he had at last found real gold. Proudly he told his townsmen, but the day being the Sabbath and Buninyong being ruled by the minister of the stone kirk, he refused to disclose the exact spot that day.




    

      [image: ]



      3 Victorian gold towns


    




    The fifty miles of road from the port of Geelong to Buninyong soon had many bullock waggons hauling food and swags. Walking beside one dray was an old man of seventy-five, John Dunlop, who as a child had worked for his bread in England before Australia was first colonized. He went with five Geelong men who, perhaps out of kindness for his old age, took four or five days to walk to the diggings. A fortnight in the rain and sleet won them ten shillings-worth of gold, and three of the men abandoned the search. Dunlop persisted, sending his mate Regan to see whether Clunes was richer and to learn the best way of digging gold. Regan returned through rain and snow and was fortunate that the road crossed one of the richest zones of gold the world has known, the gold of Ballarat. Under the wattle trees he found gold. With soaked feet he hurried seven miles to the camp at Buninyong and led Dunlop next day to Ballarat. By the end of September the colony at last had a field that might rival the Turon. ‘The whole town of Geelong is in hysterics’, reported the Melbourne Argus. ‘Gentlemen foaming at the mouth, ladies fainting, children throwing somersets, and all on account of the extraordinary news from Buninyong.’ Eight hundred to a thousand men were digging near Ballarat when commissioners and troopers issued the first licences on 21 September 1851.




    The Governor of the new colony of Victoria had decided to copy the licensing system of New South Wales, persuaded more by the need for uniformity than by the innate merits of the licence. And the officials who sold the licences were as tactful as Hardy had been at Ophir. Mr Fenwick rode to Warrandyte with four mounted constables and a Crown bailiff and, finding the diggings poor, issued free ‘Permits to Search’ for the month of September, and sent the bailiff and a black trooper into the sodden ranges in a futile quest for richer gold. Even Ballarat with all its riches had to be handled softly. When the commissioners and troopers arrived, ‘stump orators’ climbed on tree stumps and incited the diggers to refuse to pay for licences. A few men came to the gold commissioners’ tent, bought their licences, and on leaving the tent ‘were struck and pelted by the mob’. As they were protected by the black troopers others were emboldened to pay, and by 2 p.m. on the first day the commissioners had no more licence forms. Nevertheless, Captain Dana of the police peered from his tent and was alarmed at the ruffians swaggering about. Writing to La Trobe he confessed that if a disturbance should occur he must withdraw his men, for they were far outnumbered. In Melbourne La Trobe read these nervous letters and wrote curtly on the back of one: ‘A party of Police must be mustered at all hazards to proceed immediately.’ But when the police rode into the green valley, Ballarat was quiet. Only a fool would bother to fight when so much gold sparkled a few feet below the grass.




    Eight feet square of ground was allowed each man, and he dug through soft earth and gravel, red and yellow clay, and hard clay studded with pebbles: neat layers like blankets on a bed. The richest gold lay in a thin seam of blue clay rarely more than five inches thick. Sometimes this blue clay was ten feet down, but some holes descended thirty feet and found neither blue clay nor gold. But each man had many chances in the lottery and some men dug three holes in barren ground and were rich at last in the fourth.




    La Trobe saw Ballarat when it was barely one month old. Standing on the piles of slippery clay at the top of the shafts he watched a team of five men who dug 136 ounces of gold one day and 120 ounces the next, worth possibly ten years’ wages to an Englishman. He stooped to see one digger wash eight pounds’ weight of gold from two milk dishes of clay, heard of another party getting thirty-one pounds troy of gold in one day. When he rode from the field he estimated 2,500 men were busy. A fortnight later Commissioner Doveton estimated the numbers had doubled and was ‘happy to add that the greatest order prevails on Sunday throughout the Diggings’. The Superintendent of Police was more pessimistic, lamenting on 22 October that the scum of Melbourne and the convict scum of Tasmania was hurrying to a camp where men carried or concealed some £80,000 of gold, an unconscious invitation to crime. Ballarat, however, had little crime, for its thousands of pits were soon deserted and only three hundred people stayed to celebrate its first Christmas.




    Ballarat could not compete with Mount Alexander, and it is doubtful if any goldfield could have equalled Mount Alexander within six feet of the surface. A name meaningless to Victorians today but magical to millions of Englishmen a century ago, the granite Mount sat like a lion above the hills of Castlemaine, less than forty miles north of Ballarat. In the mountain’s morning shadow Christopher Thomas Peters was a hut-keeper on Barker’s sheep station and on 20 July he cracked a piece of quartz from a reef that crossed the ground where the sheep were penned at night. The white stone glittered with gold. Sensibly he told only his closest friends, a hut-keeper and shepherd and bullock driver, and three weeks after giving notice to their employer they quietly disappeared into the park-like forest. They were ignorant of alluvial mining, they had probably not seen crude gold before, but they worked the rock with hammer and chisel so strenuously that each man earned a year’s wages in a month. They were undisturbed at their hideout a mile from the Melbourne road until they were seen by passing squatters, one of whom was that itinerant busybody William Campbell of Strathlodden, who told the Governor. As the news was out the most literate of the four miners informed the Melbourne Argus of their find, but the reporter who edited the item was weak in his geography and announced that the gold was at Western Port, which was east instead of north-west of Melbourne. Peters and his mates used the precious reprieve to gouge more gold, and in mid-October they sold 98 ounces to Dalgety’s merchant store in Melbourne for the poor price of 45s. an ounce. When the gold commissioner finally arrived he found six pounds of gold in their hut, guessed they had found much more, and demanded 10 per cent of the estimated gold as penalty for having no licence. So the finders of Mount Alexander were rewarded.




    Diggers who had energy to break the Sabbath by climbing Mount Alexander late in 1851 saw at a glance the sweep of this huge goldfield. To south and west they saw white tents, mounds of yellow clay on yellow grass, blue smoke of diggers’ camp fires, tracks winding through the scrub, the diggings of Fryer’s Creek, Forest Creek (Chewton), Campbell’s Creek, Sailor’s Gully, Castlemaine, Ranter’s Gully and Cobbler’s Gully. The diggings spread over fifteen square miles at the foot of Mount Alexander, and gold was even found close to the ‘old road made by Sir Thomas Mitchell’s drays’ when he came south from New South Wales on exploration fifteen years before. It was not, however, the extent of these fields that enticed gold-seekers, nor their closeness to Melbourne; they were seventy-five miles away whereas Ballarat was one hundred by the popular route through Geelong. The richness and shallowness of the gold was the bait. Men found nuggets camouflaged by dust on the surface of the soil. They scraped away eight to twelve inches of black soil and found gold studding the clay. They dug three or four feet into the clay and found nuggets of gold wedged into cracks in the slate. ‘A pound weight of gold a day is small remuneration for a party,’ La Trobe wrote home, and some parties found five and six pounds a day. In seven months government escorts alone carried to Melbourne and Adelaide £2.4 million of gold from the fabulous Mount Alexander. What men carried privately in saddle bags and hidden purses, what they concealed in wool drays or the harness of horses in order to evade thieves and bushrangers, is not known. And how much gold the luckiest teams dug is not known, but one parcel sent to Melbourne by Eddy and Gill and three others weighed 3,008 ounces. In seven weeks these humble men with pick and shovel had won treasure worth enough to set themselves up for life.




    For those who found no gold at Mount Alexander there was a consolation prize to the north. On the sheep run of Ravenswood was an out-station with a large shepherd’s hut and stockyard on a grassy flat. A shepherd known as Sailor Bill once occupied that hut and he was such a fighter or so boasted of his prowess that he was nicknamed after the notorious English pugilist of the day, William Thompson, alias Bendigo the boxer, famous victor of Deaf Burke and Tom Paddock. The hut and yard were known as Bendigo’s and so was the chain of waterholes along the flat, and in the Bendigo creek gold was visible to the naked and sober eye. Who saw it first a select committee of parliament could not decide after examining twenty-three witnesses in 1890, and its decision was not made easier by the memories that had faded or by the curious fact that, even in 1890, thirteen people sought rewards for their real or imagined parts in finding that wonderful field.




    Bendigo was named after a boxer and possibly found by a woman. The overseer at Ravenswood station had ridden across country to the village of Buninyong at the end of the winter to hire shearers and when he returned with a piece of gold the curiosity of his wife Margaret Kennedy was aroused. This Gaelic woman rode out on the cart that supplied food to the outlying huts of the shepherds, and at Bendigo Creek she either saw gold in the gravel or was shown it by the shepherds. She returned with the wife of a barrel-maker and some food and tools, and each morning the women emerged from their mia mia made of a linen sheet stretched on a pole, and washed gravel on the banks of the creek. The women were joined by the two shepherds, an old stocky fellow with red face and no whiskers, and a young fellow in a leather apron, and when an owner of the sheep station rode up he was astonished to see the sheep untended and the two shepherds crouching over the waterhole and washing gravel in a pan in which they usually kneaded flour for bread-making. And on the bank of the creek he saw two or three ounces of gold gleaming on a torn shred of blue shirt.




    A pastoralist went down the Melbourne road to the Porcupine Inn and with liquor in him boasted that his shepherds were winning gold by the quart-pot. A man at the station with one arm and no name heard the news and spread it as he passed through Mount Alexander. William Sandbach had just driven sheep into the station for shearing when he heard boasts of gold, and next morning with others he left at sunrise and carried his swag over the Big Hill and down through the shaded veil of ironbark trees to the chain of ponds. There he saw two men and two women washing gold and instantly there ran through his mind the hymn of Bishop Heber, ‘Where Afric’s sunny fountains roll down their golden sand’. Henry Frencham, a journalist in red shirt and knee boots, broke the news in the Argus on 13 December as a Christmas box for the nation, and the name of Bendigo a Christmas later was known from Greenland’s mountains to India’s strand.




    La Trobe thought there was no limit to Victoria’s gold. ‘Meantime,’ he lamented, ‘the whole structure of society and the whole machinery of Government is dislocated.’ He had only forty-four soldiers and could hardly expect reinforcements from Tasmania where convicts had to be guarded, or from New South Wales where gold had to be guarded. His police force was at half strength, and on New Year’s Day 1852 only two of Melbourne’s forty municipal constables remained on duty in a city full of revelling diggers. Although he had ordered the gold commissioners to sell no gold licences to seamen and public servants and men who had absconded from hired service, they still absconded and quietly got a licence. Both the Postmaster and Surveyor-General predicted chaos. The Superintendent of Police said he had offered higher pay to his fifty-five constables, but fifty of them were determined to dig.




    In Port Phillip Bay ships rode at anchor without crews and without hope of hiring them. Seamen earning £2 a month could earn that in a day at Bendigo and they swam or smuggled themselves ashore. On 6 January 1852 a total of thirty-five foreign ships lay off Melbourne, and only three had full crews. The ship Rattler blew into port to land a passenger and lost eleven sailors. The City of Manchester of 1,200 tons waited in vain in the bay for thirty of its crew of forty to return from the diggings and sail her to South America. The ship Steboneath was almost ready to sail to London with wool when thirty-five of its forty-seven men deserted her. La Trobe anxiously informed London that there was nothing to stop a warship or a privateer from anchoring in the bay and holding the city and its gold-laden safes to ransom.




    In the ports of Melbourne and Geelong shopkeepers and employers found the relationships of society reversed. Calling at the blacksmith to shoe their horse they found his door locked and knew where he had gone. Their children returned from school to report the master had gone, their housemaids left without notice to marry rich diggers. Preachers looked down from pulpits and denounced avarice to congregations empty of men. La Trobe reported that in some suburbs of this city of 25,000 people ‘not a man is left’ and women were forgetting their feuds and living in neighbours’ houses for protection. And up country squatters paid fanciful prices for diggers to shear the flocks and then waited hopefully for a flood of men to come from Britain. ‘Until then God help us,’ wrote one.




    Sir William Denison, Governor of Tasmania, watching the people of his island ‘getting mad and flocking away in the steamers to Melbourne in search of gold’, decided to lock away a letter from the Reverend Mr Clarke, the geologist, pointing out places on his island where gold might be found. As Governor of a colony that still took convicts from Britain he was entitled to quake at the tumult. ‘I sincerely hope that we may not find enough to gild a sixpence,’ he confided to Deas Thomson in Sydney, but the hopes and predictions of this bluff soldier were not fulfilled. He thought the alluvial gold would soon be finished, and he thought Australian gold would attract few free migrants from England except ‘the loose Fish of society’. In fact the fish swam out in shoals.




    London, 1851. London first heard of the southern hemisphere’s Ophir three months after the rush began. Migrants who boarded ships for Australia, their passage paid by a government, could not believe the first stories that men were digging gold like small potatoes. The wave of people continued to flow from Ireland to the United States of America, not even the most fanciful tales of gold turning their thoughts to Australia. London newspapers reported the gold of New South Wales during the last month of the Great Exhibition in the Crystal Palace, and some of the thousands who filed through the glass pavilions paused to see the copper and lead and the minute specimens of gold that were displayed in Australia’s name, and could not have been impressed. As Australian mail took three or four months to reach London the news of the run of great finds from Ballarat northwards had not reached Europe at the end of 1851.




    In Paris on Sunday, 16 November, Parisians crowded in the Champs Elysées to see the drawing of the lottery for two golden ingots, but working-men who envied the French vine-dresser his first prize of £16,000 did not know that in Victoria alone more gold than that shining lump was being dug by workingmen each day. In Oxford at the close of 1851 the dons lamented that their university awarded no first class honour that year, but perhaps that didn’t matter because some of the gifted graduates a year later would be caked with clay in narrow holes in the Australian bush. In London’s shivering Christmas thousands saw the pantomimes, King of the Golden Seas at the Surrey playhouse, The Orange Tree and the King of the Golden Mines at Sadler’s Wells, and some of them would spend the next Christmas at their own golden mines. And there were two pickpockets, female and incorrigible, who had stolen a purse with £4. 10s. 4½d. from a woman in a Paddington omnibus and whose penalty was to be transported for ten years to Australia; this was almost transportation for life, wrote the London Times on 12 December in criticism of a harsh penalty. Transportation to a land of gold soon ceased to be punishment, and the last British convicts exiled to eastern Australia landed at Norfolk Island in 1855.




    Europe heard of the riches of Ballarat and Bendigo early in 1852, and the news made thousands restless. It affected poets as much as fishmongers. Alfred Tennyson said he would have gone to Australia but for Mrs Tennyson. Henrik Ibsen wrote in his play Love’s Comedy of a ‘Ballarat beyond the desert sands’, and some men of letters did more than imagine the riches of Ballarat. From Gravesend in 1852 William Howitt, famous author of Visits to Remarkable Places, sailed in his sixtieth year to visit another remarkable place. On the same ship a bouncy poet with long corkscrew curls, Richard Henry Home, carried copies of his famous poem ‘Orion’ along with a portable blacksmith’s forge and cart and cradle that he believed would enable him to make his fortune in Australia. A few weeks later Thomas Woolner the sculptor sailed, farewelled by the Rossettis and Holman Hunt and Ford Madox Brown, who painted the departing ship in his famous canvas The Last of England.




    The emigrations of poets and novelists was a symbol of the wanderlust that gold implanted in romantic minds. For the first time Australia rivalled the United States as a field of migration from the British Isles. For several years more people left the United Kingdom for Australia than for the United States, though Irishmen still preferred North America. From the British Isles in the ten years after 1851 half a million people sailed to Australia; about one person in every fifty in the British Isles sailed south. Such was the wealth of the gold colonies that they could subsidize the fares of nearly half the people who sailed to Australia in that decade.




    Gold had a magnetism which the welfare state has dulled. To win gold was the only honest chance millions of people had of bettering themselves, of gaining independence, of storing money for old age or sickness, of teaching their children to read or write. The 1840s had been a decade of revolution and misery and famine in Europe, and now across the globe was a gigantic lottery in which all had a chance and the strong-armed labourer the higher chance. Gold was the magic “formula in an age without football pools or state lotteries or social services. Moreover, gold had an intrinsic attraction to a generation that handled gold as currency, knew its touch and beauty, and had that love of sovereigns that made the miser of fiction counting his bag of sovereigns a convincing reality.




    Thousands who had resisted the call of California in 1849 did not resist the call of Port Phillip in Britain’s year of gold fever, 1852. They boarded sailing ships at Gravesend and Liverpool and Plymouth with their own provisions for three or five months at sea, mostly young men who would never see parents or England again, and drifted with the wind into the oceans in one of the great migrations of the age.




    For the thousands who boarded ship at English ports the long sea trip to Australia was more dangerous than life on the goldfields. Hundreds of young men were buried at sea, sewn in their hammocks, in each year of the gold trek. Heavily laden sailing ships ran aground on the Australian coast and bodies were tossed in the surf for days after. Men went mad with the boredom of five months at sea, with no sight of land to be expected from Europe to Cape Otway in Victoria, and took their own lives within days of sighting land. Robert Young, man, sailed from Plymouth in the new mail steamer Adelaide in 1853 with crowds of gold-seekers, burying some at sea on stormy evenings, and penning in his book The Southern World their excitement when they first saw the land of gold: mothers holding up babies to look at the shore, men shaking the hands of men to whom they had not spoken in months, men in tears as they thought of the wide waste of water severing them from loves and homes, young men shouting and leaping, grey-haired men throwing up hats, all envisaging a fortune and a quick return to Britain. On the last Sunday of the voyage his sermon in the saloon vainly denounced the folly of laying up treasure on earth.




    Gold-seekers remembered to old age the excitement as their ship came up Port Phillip Bay. Across the water a smooth line of hill etched the western horizon with the long spur of Mount Macedon like a hump and the timbered peak of Mount Blackwood, and in gaps of the hills rolled roads to the goldfields. At the end of the bay was Melbourne, caged by the masts of ships. Few ports in the new world were busier. In May 1853 twenty ships arrived from London, twenty-three from other British ports, seventeen from the United States, seven from India and Mauritius, two from Cape of Good Hope, and they joined a fleet of ketches and schooners arriving daily from Australasian ports. Most ships transhipped cargoes to lighters and barges that went eight miles up the Yarra River, and the narrow river was sometimes as jammed with small ships as the Melbourne wharves and warehouses were jammed with cargoes. In the town the hotels and lodging houses were so crowded that migrants spent their first night trying to sleep on their luggage or in discarded packing cases on the wharves. Melbourne grew so fast that thousands of migrants never got beyond the city, became blacksmiths and coachmen and piemen and joiners, and died in old age without seeing the goldfields they crossed the world to dig.




    Melbourne was a second San Francisco, more boisterous for it was nearer the diggings. In the first years of the diggings it became a fun parlour. On Sunday wedding parties raced down the streets in open carriages. On Monday saloons and drinking dens were as busy as if there had been no week-end, serving French champagne or Jamaican rum to lucky diggers and luckier prostitutes. After dark, theatres opened and diggers’ ladies with flushed faces and low dresses and gold collars sat in the tobacco smoke of the dress circle with a Bendigo lord in a tartan shirt. William Kelly described in Life in Victoria how the diggers oathed and jested during the acting of Hamlet, one lowering a bottle of brandy on the thong of his stockwhip to the King of Denmark, another jesting the grave-digger on the depth of the sinking, and others pelting small gold nuggets at Hamlet and the ghost as they bowed nervously from the footlights in the final uproar.




    Such scenes were spared most young Englishmen fresh from the sea. After gazing at nuggets and gold dust arranged seductively in gold buyers’ windows they bought their colonial outfit and packed their swags and marched up Elizabeth Street in red or blue shirts to the latest rush, their swags of blankets chafing their flesh, tomahawk and drinking pot conspicuous on their belts, and polished leather leggings branding them as new chums. James Armour, straight from Scotland in the spring of 1852, was one of tens of thousands who hurried along the rutted road to Bendigo, anxious lest the richest gold be gone, anxious for his safety in forests where bushrangers and rogues watched from the foliage. Forty shipmates went with the Scot, and some lagged behind with their unaccustomed load. It rained and they were clumsy at lighting fires with wet wood, and they slept uneasily, steam rising from wet blankets and their feet cold and swollen in boots worn all night. Heavy in the feet after eight days, they tramped into Bendigo for the luxury of a bed of gum-leaves and a tent of calico and rags and the hope of fortune.




    Wrapped in their hopes and fears and often sick for home, many goldseekers saw little on the journey to the diggings. The leisured visitors saw more and wrote more about what they saw. Lord Robert Cecil visited Bendigo as a lad of twenty-two, long before he was to become Prime Minister of Great Britain and Marquis of Salisbury. With a carpet bag at his feet he rode in a spring cart with a shrieking woman and a Californian digger who carried pistols and whose chief phrase was ‘put a bullet through his brain’. Parts of the road were so rough that they had to get out and push, but they almost preferred walking because they could escape the cloud of fine dust raised by the wheels and were not in danger of being capsized by the drunken driver who gulped brandy from a large bottle. At last, on the second day, the Californian snatched the reins and with repeated whipping of the horses and threats to put a bullet through their brains they reached Mount Alexander. In bright moonlight Cecil walked to the gold commissioners’ camp through rows of tents and campfires ‘without approaching pitfalls or being molested by brigands’, he wrote with surprise. He was even more surprised as he went about the fields in black coat and white top hat to be spoken to uncivilly only once by drunken diggers, and their offence was merely to shout ‘Who stole the donkey?’




    Armed bushrangers molested the main roads to goldfields and cut-throats murdered their mates in tents and golden holes, but these signs of violence were only one side of the page, the side the newspapers liked to print. The goldfields’ chief commissioner noted on 1 October 1852 that the crime rate was no higher on the diggings than in the whole colony. The Reverend Thomas Raston, missionary at Bendigo in 1853, knew that violent crimes and horse stealing and burglary were rife but insisted that morality was higher on the diggings than elsewhere.




    Visitors were surprised at the way the goldfields respected the Sabbath. Perhaps they should not have been surprised. The police forbade the mining of gold on Sunday and public opinion agreed; for most diggers wanted one day in which to rest or wash their clothes or yarn with friends or write home to Leith or Londonderry. Moreover diggers eagerly enforced the ban on Sabbath mining, for if a few men sank holes while their neighbours rested they could easily steal gold from the richer claims.




    On Sundays ordained clergymen or Cornish diggers preached from carts or stumps or pulpits in vast tents to some of the largest congregations that had ever assembled in the land. Revivalist crusades converted hundreds at the height of new rushes. Wesleyan lay preachers such as Jimmy Jeffrey were famous for their wit and imagination:




    ‘You diggers mark out a claim,’ he would say, ‘and put down your pegs near to a mount, say that it is Mount Alexander, or Mount Tarrengower, or the Wombat Hill, and you go to work in the hope of finding the gold, and some of you come on a rich patch, and others sink “shicer” holes; ’tis terribly uncertain about finding the gold; but I’ll lay you on to the best place. Here, you diggers, come mark out a claim by Mount Calvary.’




    For two years Victoria forbade the selling of alcohol on the diggings, and the traffic in sly grog and drugged grog was immense. Gold Commissioner Gilbert saw shops at Bendigo and Chewton sell grog that had been spiced with laudanum, acetate of lead, and a poisonous herb plucked from creek beds, and he reported that some diggers who drank drugged nobblers lost their consciousness and their gold. Grog cabins were rough gambling houses in which two-up was played with halfpence, they were hideouts for gangs who robbed travellers and for the detested night fossickers who stole gold from rich claims in the darkness. ‘In coming down from the Diggings I passed from 100 to 150 drays on the road from Melbourne, and I conjecture that fully one-half of their loading was composed of spirits and fermented liquors,’ said Commissioner Gilbert at the end of 1852, but he was powerless to interfere when teamsters invariably produced dockets claiming that the liquor was going to innkeepers beyond the goldfields. As the grog trade was illegal and the grog itself was often doped and as the grog tents were havens of criminals and violent crimes, the evil was widely condemned, and it was easy to deduce from such publicity that drunkenness was almost universal. But it is likely that the Victorian goldfields, even in their first years, were more given to church-going and Sabbath quietness and alcoholic temperance than modern Australian outback towns with a similar preponderance of men.




    Australian goldfields were probably more orderly than California’s, for the central governments in Sydney and Melbourne were strong when the first rushes began and moreover were not distant from new diggings. But police and soldiers were troubled to keep pace with the ceaseless tides of men rushing to new fields. The size of each claim on Australian goldfields was small in comparison with California, and so diggers quickly exhausted their gold in their small area of ground and had to move elsewhere. When a new goldfield was found huge numbers hurried there, knowing that there was room for thousands of small claims. Thus Australian diggers were unusually mobile, and their ceaseless rushing meant that police protection was often slow in reaching a new rush. Diggers thus often united in order to protect themselves, and vigilante committees that captured thieves or murderers and even punished them were not uncommon on new Australian goldfields from Castlemaine to Coolgardie. ‘I have seen upwards of 700 diggers at once chasing a thief, or thieves,’ wrote Reverend W. C. Currey at Mount Alexander in 1853.




    Many Victorians feared riots on the goldfields once the flood of British seekers arrived. They argued that alluvial gold would soon be exhausted and that poverty would nettle thousands of men gathered in the narrow flats and gullies. Officials on the goldfields estimated 30,000 adult men were there in June 1852, and 100,000 in 1855, but the gold was far from exhausted. Prospectors had fanned out from existing diggings, shepherds and carters had been alert on the sheep runs, and so new goldfields arose to ease the strain on the old.




    Gold was found at Omeo in the cold mountains of Gippsland and in the winter of 1852 there was a small rush to what then was the most inaccessible field in Australia. Dogged in the valleys by swollen streams and blinded on the heights by sun on the snow, Omeo men then crossed the mountains to the Ovens River, a hundred miles north-west. There two Californians fancied the valleys near Reid’s sheep run or heard from a shepherd of the gold found when the flour mill was built in 1846; and they borrowed mining equipment and set out with a shepherd named Howell to find gold. They found it on the third day in a creek in front of a bark-roofed hut, the birth of the mining town of Beechworth. It was 160 miles north-east of Melbourne, close to the main road to Sydney, and thousands came from New South Wales late in 1852 and pitched tents in the flats.




    The three Beechworth discoverers, their claims surrounded by newcomers, decided to seek new ground. The Reids, curious to know how they fared, rode out one day and saw a man hastily hide a pint pannikin under the bank of Reid’s creek. David Reid rode up and called, ‘What luck have you had, Howell?’ ‘Oh, just middling,’ said the shepherd. ‘Oh,’ replied the pastoralist, ‘that is all moonshine. What is that you’ve got under the bank?’ The shepherd produced the pannikin, filled with 14 pounds’ weight of gold.




    Reid’s Creek was rushed by thousands, and David Reid sold goods in a hut by the creek and bought gold at 56s. an ounce and earned huge profits. Many early diggers carried to the store a prospecting dish covered with a cloth and balanced on their heads, and placed on the scales fine gold that weighed 700 or 800 ounces. They extracted much of that gold from a depth often and twelve feet, and they had to bale water and fight floods before they reached that depth. Most claims were only twelve feet square but many yielded £2,000 and more for one week’s work. And many more yielded nothing.




    One valley was no sooner looted of gold than another was found. A Sydney man found gold at Yackandandah, Canadians found it at the Buckland, and Johnson persisted with his idea that the Woolshed Creek would be rich in gold. He paid six men to sink a wide hold or paddock in the valley but as the hole deepened the water poured in and the men could not master it. Johnson spent all his money, paid his men their last wages on the Saturday night, and prepared to abandon his search. The men thought well of him and promised to work another week on the chance of finding washdirt. On the Friday they struck thousands of flat grains of gold on the granite bedrock, perhaps the richest strike in the north-east. In a week they got £15,000 of gold and Johnson reputedly shouted his men twenty dozen bottles of champagne, and could well afford them, for he is said to have made a clear profit of £70,000.




    The year 1853 was memorable at the Ovens and sensational at Bendigo. ‘One vast diggings,’ William Westgarth the merchant wrote of Bendigo in 1853, and some statistics—suspect like all goldfields statistics—suggest that the Mount Alexander district produced 662,000 ounces of gold that year. Eagle Hawk Gully was so rich that Commissioner Gilbert saw gold glittering on the surface soil, so rich that the barrow road or no-man’s strip between each claim was coveted by all, and when one man left his claim in order to wheel away a load of auriferous gravel to be washed, his neighbour would quickly shovel the gravel of the dividing wall into his claim. Not far away at the White Hills men crawled and crouched along drives twenty-five feet underground and gouged out a greyish white seam of hard grit that often carried three ounces of gold to the bucket—a seam so rich that they would drive unseen into their neighbour’s ground and mine his treasure while he was hopefully sinking his shaft. At Golden Square at nightfall men would climb up home-made ladders and wash the orange earth from face and hands and hair and sometimes see a grain or two of gold in the dirty water.




    From Bendigo and Ballarat radiated new goldfields that inflamed the hopes of the thousands who landed monthly from Hamburg and Liverpool and San Francisco. To the east of Bendigo thousands rushed to the lagoons of Rushworth and the ancient hills of Heathcote—17,000 men on the Mclver field in the winter of 1853. South of Bendigo, down towards Ballarat, rich gold was found on the flanks of the Great Dividing Range at Daylesford and Creswick. Then, moving clockwise came Smythesdale, Beaufort, Avoca, Maryborough and other rich diggings that became permanent towns. At the foot of Mount Tarrengower, Captain John Mechosk, a German gentleman who had opened German Gully diggings near Fryerstown and the riches of Kingower, employed nineteen men to prospect for him and they found the famous goldfield of Maldon in 1853 after he had spent £1,900 on rations and wages. And on the red soil of the spurs of Wedderburn and Mount Korong fragments of white quartz as thick as wildflowers tempted the pastoral workers and passing Californian miners to dig shallow shafts. When a pastoralist rode out to see the men at work one asked him, ‘Would you like a drink of tea, master?’ and the master stooped to take the pannikin of black tea from the ground and almost dropped it when he felt its weight. Concealed in the tea were some of the first nuggets from one of Australia’s richest surface goldfields, a field which almost a century later could still produce nuggets including a rugged lump worth £1,300 and known as the Wedderburn Dog.




    The discovery of magnificent nuggets of gold fanned the excitement. Most of the alluvial gold in Victoria was in small pieces or specks, like pollen or fine dust, like melon seeds or gunshot, or in ragged coarse grains. In some ground, however, great lumps of alluvial gold lay buried, their sides often smoothed by the flow of water, their shapes familiar or grotesque, often with pieces of quartz or ironstone attached as relics of the reef or hard rock from which the gold had long ago eroded. A belt of country stretching from Steiglitz through Ballarat to Wedderburn—known in later times as the Indicator Belt—yielded fantastic nuggets. At Mount Moliagul in 1869 a Cornishman named John Deason found an inch below the surface of the ground a huge mass of gold which, melted of impurities, weighed 2,284 ounces and was sold to a Dunolly bank for the princely sum of £9,436. Named the Welcome Stranger, it was probably the largest recorded nugget in the world.




    The Welcome Stranger had been preceded by the Welcome Nugget, a dazzling lump of 2,217 ounces found by twenty-two Cornishmen not far from the site of Ballarat East railway station in 1858, and it in turn had snatched the record from a long series of beautiful nuggets. At the White Horse Gully in Bendigo in 1852 diggers found one foot under the ground a quartz-encrusted nugget which they sold for £2,100. Nearby another beautiful specimen was bought by the Victorian parliament at the fabulous price of £4. 17s. an ounce and presented to the Queen. On Fryers Creek near Mount Alexander in 1855 two young men capped their short stay of three months in Australia by finding a lump weighing over a thousand ounces and shaped like a heron which they sold in England for £4,080. Few early nuggets were publicized, and many diggers concealed them to avoid attracting thieves or broke them in order to carry the heavy pieces more easily. We can only guess from the numerous nuggets catalogued after 1855 that far more were found but never recorded in the first years when the diggers swarmed over virgin ground. News of nuggets spread by tongue or newspaper were magic to the diggers, and the finding of so many lumps of gold at the depth of sixty feet at Canadian Gully in January 1853 did much to give Ballarat its second lease of life.
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